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APPEAL FRUM A DECISION OF THE CORPORATION
DESIGNATED FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE ONTARIQ NEW
HOME WARRANTIES PLAN ACT

TCO DISALLOW A CLAIM
LYNDA TANAKA, Chair

THE APPLICANTS, unrepresented

NEIL ABSOTT, Counsel, NATALIE MULLINS, Counsel, and S.
POPOQVICH, Student at l.aw appearing on behalf of Tarion
Warranty Comporation

Ms. M. M. MORIN, Counsel and VINCENT PETICCA, Agent,
appearing on behalf of the Added Farty, Fermnbrook Homes
{Hampstead) Limited

Qctober 9, 11, 12, 15,17, 18, and 19, 2007
March 26, 27 and 28, 2008 Toronto

REASCNS FOR DECISION AND ORDER

The Applicants appealed from the Decision Letter of Taron Wamanty Corporation
{Tarion} dated March 28, 2006 with respect to a home they purchased from a buitder,

Fernbivok Homes

{Hampstead) Limited (“Fembrook”™), in which Tarion denied the

Appiicants’ claim for warranty on their home.

The Applicants’ complaint is with respect to the heating, ventilation and air conditioning
system ("HVAC system”} in the home, which is a high velocity combination domestic hot
water and heating system {“hugh velocity combo system”),
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The Applicants say that the high velocity combo system as instalied in their home
cannat heat the house to an appropriate temperatura. The expert evidence on which
they rely is to the effect that the HVAC sysiem does not comply with the Ontario
Building Code (OBC), has defects, and is not properly installed. They claim a payment
from the compensation fund in the amount of $30G,000 to replace the HYAC system with
one that does comply with the OBC and is properly installed. Ferbrogk's position is that
the HVAC system is installed in compliance with the OBC and so iong as a comfortable
temperature is reachad, that is the limit of their responsibiiity. Tarion requests an order

of the Tribuna! under Section 14(7) that & perform additional investigation and perform
or airange for performance of work to rectify the problems.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS

This appeal was the subject of several pre-hearings before the Tribunal, including
motions by the parties with respect to the procedures to be followed. The appeal was
conisolidated wiih the appeal by a homeowner of another house in the same
development. As a result of the consolidation. the Applicants assumed that gvidencc
admissible in one appeal would be relevant and admissible in the other, without any
guestion being raised as {o admissibility. On the eve of the hearing the appiicant in the
other appeal was hosgpitalized on an cmergsncy basis.  These Appiicants were
prepared to go zhead with the hearing, though they wished an adjournment to allow the
other appaeal to proceed as conhsoiidated. No date was provided to the Tribunal as to
when the olher applicant could proceed. Following argument of the issue of
adjournment, for reasons delivered orally, the Tribunal granted a two-day adjournment
#nd separated the two cases. Both of the anpeaic had beon cutstanding on flle at the
Tribunal for 18 monthsg, a period longer than most cases take from appeal receipt to
completion In addition, the time sot aside for hearing was two weeks, a very long
neriod of time for this Tribunal, which was therefore not available for other appeals. The
hearing was scheduled to commence on Oc¢tober 9, but was adjoumned uniil October 11
to permit the parties io reorganize their avidence as required, due to the fact that the
other applicant’s evidence would not be going forwara at that time.

On October 11 Tanon's counsal requested that the evidence of the experts be limited to
examination in chief unti! such time as thie olher appiicant’s case was ready o proceed.
The purpose of this was te prevent the experts from “going fo school” on the cross-
examination in this case and changing their answers in the next case ¢ give answers
more appealing to the Tribunal. The Applicant objected and the Tribunal rejected the
request for reasons given orally.

As part of the unlinking of the two casaes, the Tribuna! ruled that evidence of the other
appeal would only be admissible on a limited basis so as to minimize prejudice to the
cther applicant, whose case was uitimately scheduled some months later. As the cass
proceeded, evidence of the other appiicant's home and evidence of ather homes in the
deveiopment and in other developments with the same heating system was admitted.
Some of the bound exhibits contained experts’ reports that related {o the other matter,
and these and any other unproven documents relating io the other matier have not



{51 (= ISt O N AT B A} gy PR NI [ e

been referred to in the course of preparing this decision, just as they were not referred
to in the evidenge,

The oiher appeai with which this appeal had been consolidated was subsequently
settied by the paries without the need for a hearing.

The Applicants requested that their names and the address of their home not be
published. Taron objected to this constraint on the basis thal lhe warranty legisiation is
cansumer protection legislation and the public should know the details with respect to
this home. The ruling was reserved. In accordance with the requirements of the
Freedom of information and Protection of Privacy Act, the Applicants’ names and
address are not included in this decision. If Tarion believas that its mandate to protect
the public requires the publication of the information, it can take whatever steps within
the law it believes is appropriate,

The Tribungl wishes {o express its thanks to the parties for the presentation of very
interasting engineering issues as well as a lengthy history of events. The evidence
inciuded careful review of manlfacturer's specifications for the components cof the
HVAC system installed, as well as of the Ontaria Building Code and other associated
documents including guidelines and standards for designers and instaliers of HVAC
systems in residential buildings. These reasons contain a summary of the avidence and
the opinions expressed, rather than a recitation of ait the evidence heard. The Tribunal

has carefully reviewed ali the documenis that were filed as exhibits, including the expert
reporls, and the evidence heard in amiving at its decision,

EVIDENCE

The Applicant testified and called to testify as experis John R, Kokko, P. Eng. and Dara
Bowser, In reply evidence, the Applicant called to testify John D. Hubberi, P. Eng. and

another homeowner,

The Applicants signed an agreement of purchase and sale on October 3, 7001 ' The
transaction closed in March 2002, but the Applicants did not move i immediately.
Problems with the HVAC system arose auickly in the form of difficulties cooling the

house in the spring of 20022,

In the summer of 2002, after moving in, the Applicants made frequent calls to the
contractor who instailed the HVAC system without amiving at any solution to the coaling
prabiems. Their complaint forms indicate that the air conditioner originally installed was
smaller than required under the agreement of purchase and sale and it was
subsequently replaced. Even with the replacoment air conditionar, the HVAC sysiem
still could nat ¢ool the house 1o a tomperature betow 80 deg F. For further mitigation,
the Applicants installed 2 ceiling fans, wood shutiers on the windows, table fans and

tintcd shesting on the windows.

{Exhibic 7, Tab
F xhabit T, Tabs 33 and X
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it becamie clear to lhe Appiicants in late 2002 that the house was also not heating as
they expected. Daspite significant efforts, and the use of gas fireplaces continuously,
the HVAC system was, according to the Applicants, unable to meset the heating
requirements at a comfortable temperature in the house.

The Appticant testified that she has bought at least four other new homes covered by
the Tariun warranty system and she was pleased to see in her agreement of purchase
and sale that the system in this home included a high efficiency furnace. The specific

wording of the agreement ¢iause was:

HIGH FFFICIENCY FEATURES.

. Gas fired, {orced air HIGH-EFFICIENCY FURNACE completc  with
ELECTRONIC IGNITION

» Ducting o accommeadate future air conditioning”
[n addition, the hame was to inciude the following:

. “high efficiency water tank is 2 gas rental unit, power vented 1o exterior™

The Applicant testified that in her home, if the thermostat is set at 68 to 69 deg F (the
temperature range that they find comiortable}, the temperature in the house is in fact in
the range of less than B0 deg F. Since the winter of 2002 the Applicants have, on a day
to day basis, coped with the inadequate heat by turning on the gas fireplaces on the
main floar, the basement and the master bedroom, and running (hem continuously
when the family is in that part of the house. They have also supplemented the HVAC
system with portable heaters in the guesi bedroom at the front of the house and in the
hasement. The gas firepiaces are aii manually operated and do not have thermostats.
The Applicants turn on ihe main floor fireplace as soon as they come in from outside in
the cool weather to maintain a temperature in the main floor. The thermmostat for the
HVAC system is located in the dining room on the main floor, so that as that floor heats
up, the HVAC system turns off, leaving the secend floer bedrooms cool. The Applicants
accommodate this by putting on the fireplace in the master bedroom. At the time of the
hearing, one daughter and her infant were residing with the Applicants. The Applicant
said that a porlable heater is used in the front bedroom where the infant sleeps. Also.
the heating ovemight is such that in the morning on waking, she and her husband,
figuratively speaking, “toss a coin” {o decide who will brave the cold to tumn on the gas

fireplace in the bedroom.

In addition, the Applicant testified, and the other withesses agreed, that the high velocity
comhbo system is noticeably noisier than a conventional forced air system, apparently
because the air moves through the ducts at high velocity and the ducts are smaller.
The Applicant testified that when the system turns on, the noise in the master bedroom
s loud enough that she is awakened by the sound in the night.

TExhabit 7, b 1
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The high velocity combo system heals tire house by drawing heat from the water in the
domestic hot waler tank and biowing the heated air by a fan powered by a %
horsepower motor through a series of small diameter plastic tubes or ducts that run
through the walls of the house with vents in each room. The gystem also requires
return air ducts. The system is a variation on the conventional forced air heating system
based on sheet metal ducts or vents throughout the house. In the high velogity combo
system, the ducts are narrower than the conventional sheet metai vents. In addition,
the conventiona! forced air system has a heat source that is a furnace that generates
heal for the air, separaie from the domaestic hot water tank.

The subdivision in gquestion consists of 52 linked townhouses. Vince Peticca is a
manager with Fernbronk who was responsible for the development  Mr. Peticca
testified that Fembrook wanted to build the homes in an open concept, avoiding the
space required for the bulkheads that accommodate the conventional forced air duct
system to resporid to customers who wanted the open interior concept. Oakville (“the
City™)* had issued buiiding permits based on the HVAC system design submitted by
Femnbrook over the seal and signature of a professional engineer and on the basis of an
HRAI® form for combination systems such as this one.

Mr. Peticca testified that he had taken two officials responsibie for inspecting heating
systems installed in developments in the City fo another subdivision to show them the
proposed high veiocity combo system in another develapment. The response of those
City officials was that with proper design and instatiation, the HVAC system would be

approved if installed in this development.

It is clear from the chronology that Fembrook applied for approval of the high velocity
combo system in 2000, long befors the agreement of purchase and sale was signed by
the Applicants. The Applicant testified that she was not advised of the change, nor
aware of the differences between the ftwo systems. She complained to Tarion about
this substitution, but her complaint was made too late so she has not pursued that
remedy and at this stage cannot. The substitution of the high velocity combo system for
the conventional forced air high efficiency fumace system is, however, relevant o this
matter, specifically with respect {o the remedy sought.

The evidence establishes that a group of homeowners, who were also dissatisfied with
Fernbrook’s response to their complaints about the HVAC system, approached the City
with their concems. Since the City had issued huilding permits on the hasis that the
system complied with the ORC, tha City agreed to undertake its own investigation and
commissioned a study by John D. Hubbenrt, P. Eng., of J. D. Hubberl & Asscciates
feading to a report dated April 14, 2005 (the “Hubbert Report™)®. Mr. Peticca testified
that Fernbrook had been part of the discussions leading up to the retainer of Mr.
Hubbert and had compliad with ail the recommendations of that report.

* Whether its legal status is as a town or a o1y, Oakoville is referred to, a8 Mr, Poticea referred to it as the ity
* Heating, Refrigerativn and Air Conditioning [nstitute of Canada
" Exhibir 7, Tah 14
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in the meantime, the Appticants continued to press Tarion under the wamanty. They
requested conciiiation, which occurred on September 23, 2004. The Warranty
Assessment Report that flowed from that conciliation’, dated September 28, 2004, deak
with the substitution complaint and the complaint conceming the deficiencies in the
HVAC system. The compiaint on the substitution was held not warranted because it
was too lotc (outside the one year period after possession), but the complaint
conceming the air ducts in the hasement, that the furnace does not heat the house
sufficiently, that the air conditioner runs constantly and not sufficient vents was held to
be warranted. The assessmenl was that under Section 15(2)(b) of Regulation 892,
every vendor warranis thai ihe electneal, plumbing and heating delivery and distribution
systems {as defined) are free from defects in matenal and work. The observation in the
Warranty Assessment Report was as follows:

"The homeowngrs were explained the process that has been under iaken with the two
test repairs to simifar homes on their street, The builder is working with Tarion Warranty
Corsoration and the City of Qakville 1o resolve the heating conuerns with many of the
homes in thic project. The homeowners ware explained that the reaults of the twe tested
homes should be completed by middle of Qctober and once a proper repair hage been
established hen modifications o their system will be dona shorthy.”

Despite this report, the cover letter to the Applicants reporied that neither of their
complaints was warranted.”

By e-mail dated August 4, 2005, from an administrative assistant at the City®, the
Apolicants were informed that repairs were scheduied for their home on August 11 and
that the work to be peiformed was “balance retum air and cavity retum air”. They were
aiso advised that their water tank would be replaced. On August 8 the City sent out a
further e-mail explaining the process to be followed and that after the upgrade of the
tanks an engineer from the City would carify Code compliance and the Supervisor of
Mechanical Inspectors for the City would “be in a pesitien fo sign off on Code portions

on the homes.”

n November 10, 2005, a year afier the conciliation and six months after the City
received the Hubuert Report, the Applicants weére provided with the ariginal heat loss
caiculations for therr nome by the City. Also, the City confirmed to them that the City's
to heat the house and provide for domestic hot waler use and an additionat 10 tc 15 %
heat loss/heat gain should be added. All homes in the development with over 45,000
BTU reguired a replacement 1ank.’® The new tanks were to provide the requisits heating
capacity to heat the home {o 22 deg © at a winter design temperature of 18 deg C, as
stipulated in the OBC, and sufficient capacity for domestic water heating. The system
was aiso (o be capable of delivering the required ¢oofing. The Applicants’ home had a
heat loss of 63,604 BTU according to the calculations provided fo them by the City. The
Tribunal notes at this time that there have been varicus calculations of heat loss for

" Exhiiit 6, Iteny 3

'f' Exhubin 6, [tem 5 Letter Mark Roceatagligta, Warranty Representative, Tanon, to the Applicants
¥ Exhubit 31

¥ Eahbun 6 Tem 4



homes n this development, but Exhibit 45 which shows the revised heat loss
calculations for other homes, in the deveiopment, as calculated by Mr. Hubbert, does
not mclude a heat loss calculation for this home. In any event, the parties are agreed
that the original calculation of 53,604 BTU was inaccurate {too low), as were the heat
lnss calculations for many af the other homes in the development.

The Applicant testified that she had difficulty getling information from the City, bul
Exhibit 4 contains a series of e-mails between the Appiicant and Mr. Hubbert in October
2005, dealing with the Town's insisience on the installation of the new hot water tank.
Despite the fact that the Applicant testified that she could not get a copy of his report
until much later, Mr. Hubbert set cut in a lengthy e-mail the basis for the conclusion that
the new hot water tank would solve the capacity issue. He concludes his e-mail of
Octoher 14, 20085 as fallows:
“The system that has been instalted i3 one in which there are some sheortcomings, but

-

with the upsired tank, a lack of heating capacity will not be one of them."

. Hubbert advised that the heaiing coil at 160 deg F water entering the coil would
provide more than enough BTU/hr to cover the heat loss in the unil, even with the air
ieakage that is present in the units. He acknowledged the complaints of some
homeowners that the shower would go cold or the washer failed to wash properly,
because the hot water was being called on to provide enough heat te heat the home on
a cold day. In essence, the fix for the lack of capacity for the heat loss in the houses
vas to increase the capacity of the tanks to produce enough water and increase the
temperature from-the 130 deg F that was previously produced to 160 deg F to produce

hotter air."’

The City, then acting on Mr. Hubbert's recommendations, required that new hot water
tanks ba instalied in the homes. The homeowners were not required to pay for the new

tanks.

Jara Bowser undertook testing in another home in the same subdivision in November
2005, which indicated that the new hol water tank and changes made under Mr.
Hubbert's recommendations made little difference. The Applicant was very concemed
and, as will he noted in the evidence of Homeowner #3 later in thesc asons, she

confacted the City to no avail.

E=xhibit 17 is a copy of a lefter dated November 16, 2006, over a yeat later from J.D.
Hubbert & Associates lo certify, with the seal of Mr Hubbert as a Professional Engineer,

“that with the upsized hot water tank set for 160F hearing water operation, the heating
system is now capable of heating the home to 22C at winter design of —18C as stipulated

in the Ontario Building Code.”

The letter goes on to state that the system has sufficient capacity to meet the domestic
water heating requirements as stipulated in the appropriate Guidelines, namely house

——— . ——
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heating load pius 20%. The lefter also goes on to say that the system has the capability
to deliver the required amount of cooling to the upper floor, and all returns were

functioning as designed.

The Applicants were reluctant to accept the installation of the new hot waler tank,
referred to as the “Polaris tank”, the chogen substitution, untess the Cily would agree (o
come back to their home fo tost the system wilh the new tank in place. The tests
conducted by Mr. Bowser in November 2605 on another home in the subdivision
certainly supported their skepticism. When the Applicants resisted the installation of the
Polans tank, they received an order to comply from the City under the OBC section

6.2.1.2(1), which required them to replace the domestic hot water tank in these words:

“The existing comba hnt water tank has insufficient capacity o meet the hsating and
domestic water heating abligation ”

The order to comply required the folicwing:

*Replace existing tank with one with suificient capacity that will cover the heat less and
domestic 'oads. For exaniple: Polaris PR 100-34"

According to the Applicant, they arranged to have the Polaris tank instalied in their
home. it was not iarge enough to produce sufficient water for their bathtub, which is a
Jacuzzi, and it made no noticeable difference in the heating of the hama

The Appilicants appeaied the order {0 comply to the Buiiding Code Commission with a
view to having the issue of whether ar not the HVAC sysiem compiied with the GBC
determined by that Commission. The Building Code Commission issued a decision in
December 2003%, in which it declined to accept jurisdiction to deal with the appeal,
because the City, on hearing that the Polarls tank had been ingtalied, withdrew the
Order to Comply. The Building Code Commission made clear that even though it was
agreed that the Polaris tank was i fact removed from the home and the Applicants
were no longer compliant with the Order to Comply that had beesn issued, the
Cormmission did not have jurisdiction t¢ deal with the complaint uniess the City issued
znother order to comply and the Applicants filed a new appeatl. The City's position on
the Building Code Commission proceedings was that the Tribunal was the proper venue
fur detemrmining the issues raised in the Notice of Appeal to the Commission which

extended beyond the issue of the water tank.

The Applicants’ claim on the warranty was ultimatoly denied by Tainan in the Decision
Letter issued March 28, 2008. The reason given for the denial of the warranty claim

includes the ollowing:
“Whiie 1arion finds that the originat HVAC systern installed appears to be non-compliant

with the QBC, Tarion also finds thal repairs In accordgnce with the Hubben
reacommendaiions are an acceptable resolution of the defect...

Y Exhibtir 19
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The Corporation (Tarion) had full agreemant from Fernbrook Homes fo complete ali
warranted work as required by the Town of Qakvilie in accordance with the Hubbert
recommendations. Your refusal to allow those repairs to be conducted to your home
amounts to an interference with section 14(7} and also is a denial of reasonable accass

to Fermbrook Homes.

Based on your refusal to allow Fernbrook to effect performance of work to mitigate the
defects associated with the HVAC system, Tarion finds you are not eniitled to any further
compensation from the Guarantee Fund.”

At this point the Tribunal notes that the aliegation of lack of access was withdrawn about
& year after the appeal to the Tribunal was commenced, at a pre-hearing before the

Tribunal in Apnl 2007.

The Tribunal also notes the following siatements under the heading “Observation” in the
Decision tetier:

"The homeowners expressed concem that the performance of the HYAC system does
not meet the design specification and OBC requirements. Tarfon with agreement from
the builder performed testing in the summer of 2004, These tests indicatad that the
system was not producing snough BTU to satisfy the heating requirements for this hame.
Based on the tesiing minor aiterations were done to the system and additional supply
vents weare insialled by the builder These alterations did increase the system output but
a concern remained as to whether the system was producing sufficient BTU.

The bulider then worked directly with the Town of Oakville to assess the issue as the
builder's position was that the HVAC unil had previously approved [sic] by the
municipatity. Oakville retained an expert, J.0. Hubbert & Associates to investigate the
HVAC system &nhd jssues. Under the Towns {sic] direction Mr. Hubberi made
recommendations to Fembrook to perform repairs 0 the system to meet the
raquirements of the OBC.”

There is no evidence hefore this Tribunal that in this home additional supply vents were
installed as a result of any study in 2004, and Tarion did not provide any expert

evidence from 2004 to support the statements above.

Despite Mr. Hubbert's explanation in the e-mail in Exhibit 4 referred to above, the
Applicants believed then and remain of the view that the “fix” for the problems with their
HVAC systern imposed onh them by the order to comply is not a fix at all. The Applicants
obsearved no increase in the ability of the system to generate more heat. In addition, the
new tank cost an additional $33 per month in rental, double the rental cost of the
original tank. |n September 2008, John R Kokka P. Eng and Dara Bowser conducted
tests on the HVAC system with the Polaris tank in place, leading to their reports which

will be referred {o later,

The original tank, a 75 gallen Rheam, was subsequently put back into the home until
August 2007. The Polaris tank was then reinstalied at Tarion's request in order to
permit their experts to run tests in September 2007, pursuant ic an order of the
Tribunal. Tarion agreed to pay the additional utility costs that flowed from this
reinstaliation and as at the October commencement of the Applicants’ case, that tank

was still in place.
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The air conditioning system is also alleged to be inadequate but because the appeal
does not refer to the air conditioning, the Tribunal does not have jurisdiction; however,
the inadequacies of the air conditioning system add fuel to the Applicants’ strong feeling
that the HVAC for this house is naot functioning as it should. In addition, the experts are
agreed that if you can push hot air through the house, you should be able to push cool
air through the same vents.

in the course of trying 1o solve the problem of why their HVAC system is inadequaie the
Applicants have reviewed the manufacturers specifications for the equipment. The air
handler is manutactured by Energy Saving Products Litd. and the manual for the HV100
system was filed as Exhibit 3, Tab B. The manual is intended, according to the note on
page 1, to be read prior to installation. Notable on the first page is the following:

“Energy Saving Products Lid.s Hi- Velogity Saft-Aire comfort sysiem is not meant as a
direct replacement to convenlional forced air systems, but more as an engineered
comforte systern especially desicned to your specific requiremsents ”

The manual contains specific instructions for the instaltation of the system including duct
work and insulation in order to provide sound attenuyation. The specifications for the
different models are on p. 9 and indicate for the HV-110 unit 82,000 BTUH at 160 EWT
(entering water temperature) with 1100 CFM (cubic feet per minute). The manual also
specifies the minimum and maximum number of outlets, the fan coil size and motor size
(2 horsepower and 7.5 amps). On page 12, the manual provides for the location of the
vent outiets, i.e. vents should be 6™ on centre from finished walls, corners or drapes.

Also, Exhibit 8 is the Hi-Velocity Systems Design Assistance Manual for Mode! HV100
{and other models} published by Energy Saving Praducts Lid. Appendix A has the Hi-
Velocity Fan Coil Specifications, which mirror those in Exhibit 3, Tab B.

The manual also provides information on conditions to avoid, such as kinks or tears in
the flexible duct and making surc the ducting is not crushed or cimpad. All leaks are (o
be sealed with tape or sealant in accordance with the building code requirement. The

duct sizes are also specified.

The Applicant believes that the wrong size of ducts have been installed and produced
measurements in support of this. She also produced photographs of the vents in her
home indicating that the vents are not located in accordance with the manuai®®. With
respect to the manufacturers requirement of sealing leaks in the duct work, the
documents at Tabs 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of Exhibit 7, which span a period from pre-
delivery well into 2003, contain references to gaps in duct work in the basement that are
left open and unsealed for months. Tab 9 is a letter dated June 21, 2004 from the
Applicants to Tarion documenting that the Applicants have had no response to their
campilaints about air leakage in the fumace room air ducts and asking Tarion to assist in
getting action from Fernbrook, “who throughout this time has simply ignored our
concerns.” The letter cites freguent service visits from the HVAC installer.

'* Exhibit 3, Teb E, last four pages
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With respect to the sealing of the leaks, there is tape in place, but there is an issue as to
whether or not the tape meets the requirements of the OBC (Section 6.2.4.9)." The
Tribunal accepis the evidence of the Applicant’s withess Mr. Bowser that the tape does

not comply.

There is therefore evidence on which the Tnbunal can conclude that the instaliation of
the HVAC system was not done in accordance with manufacturer's specifications and
further may not be complianl with the OBC. The manual is clear throughout in
references’™® that it is the responsibility of the installer to address the issue of local code

compliance on the installation of the system.

HOMEOWNER EVIDENCE

Three purchasers (including the Applicant) of three different houses in this subdivision
testified in the hearing. One of them had difficulty with the system until adjustments
were made to vents. The other two homsowners, including the Applicant, were
unhappy with the system as installed — /s ability to heat and cool their homes and the
noise emitted. Another homeowner in another development with the same HVAC
system also testified as to problems he had with the same system installed in his

townhouse.

Homeowner i1

Homeowner #1 was called to testify by the Applicants. He owns a home in a
condominium townhouse development in another municipality. The home is around
4,000 sq. ft. and the development has won awards. The homes range in size, and in
dollar value (up to $2,000,000). Homeowner #1 is a professional engineer {electrical),
who has in the past headed a billion dollar corporation. The expert for Tarion, Mr.
Gerald Genge, relied on his involvement with this other development to establish his
(Mr. Genge’s) credentials fo give expert evidence on the high velocity combo system.

Homeowner #1 testified as to the problems with the HVAC system in his home, which
reflect similar issues as in the Applicani{s’ home, and the months of investigation that he
undertook with respect to the high velocity combo systems. Because of the size of his
home, he has two such systems, which did not provide a proper level of heating or
cooling for his townhouse and were noigy. Ha lestified the system was also very
expensive, more expensive in utility costs on a monthly basis than his larger single
family home had been. Mr. Genge had been retained to provide and did provide
recommendations for solving the HVAC problems when the condominium corporation
complained to Tarion about the issues. Homeowner #1 testified that his understanding
is that Tarion has many complaints on file about this HVAC system. He also testified
that Tarion undertook the work recommended by Mr. Genge, which included adding

' Exhibit 40 “Tape used for sealing joints in air ducts, plemums and other parts of air duet systems shall meet the
flame-resistance requirements for fabnc i CANUILC-510%, “Standard fro Flame Tests of Flame Resistant Fabrics

and Films.”
"% Such as “Check your local building code far the ruling in your area” on page 4 wnnder “Plenum Duet Location”™.
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outiets and adding ducts, but none of the solutions Mr. Genge recommended were
successful. After that effort to correct ihe problems failed, Dara Bowser was retained by
the builder of that development, who was co-operative with the homeowners.

Homeowner #1 undertook his own testing using his own expertise and the results of the
months of investigation he undertook into high velocity combo systems. He testified
that when it was —23 deg C outside, it took 30 hours for the HVAC system to get his
house to 68 deg F, even though the outside temperature got up to —3 deg C in the
course of that 30 hours. When it was warm, 30 deg C outside, the house's ¢ooling
systern could not maintain 2 23 deg C temperature inside.

Because of a flood in an upper floor bathroom of his house, Homeowner #1's unit
suffered severe water damage. The interior walls of the townhouse had to be replacad.,
In the course of that work, many problems in the HVAC systemn installation were
ravealed-
» none of the noise attenuation measures recommended by the system
manufacturer had been implementsd by the installer,
« an elbow joint in the duct was not connected, and
air retums were misaligned, laading to the return air capacity being 50% of what
it should have been.

Homeowner #1 testified as to the costs which he had incurred, partiaily supported by
the insurance that responded to the flooding damage. His home had two systems
instalied from the outset bacause of the size of the townhouse,; on the lower part of the
house he replaced the entire system and for the upstairs, he replaced the mechanical
components, He indicated the cost of a single system plus an extra duct was $18,000,
The cost of removing the drywall and existing systemn and rebuilding following
instaflation of the new system would cost another $18,000. He identified Exhibits 21
and 22 as reports preparad by Mr. Bowser on the HVAC systems in the condominium

development where ha lives.

Bomeowner #2

Horneowner #2 was called to testify by Fernbrook as an owner in the same subdivision
as the Applicant. Her agreement of purchase and sale was filed as Exhibit 38. It was
exscuted in May 2000 and she testified that she took possession early in 2001. She
testified that initially she had problems with the heating in the home. She acknowledged
her own ignorance of how to manage the system. She cobtained assistance and once
certain adjustments to valves were made and she had the explanation, she had no
further problems with the system. She likes her home to be warmed to 74 to 75 deg £
and she had no difficulty achieving and maintaining that. She sold her home after three
vears in 2004 and no longer lives in the subdivision in part because of the aggressive
neighbours who were concerned about their inadequate HVAC systems. The Tnbunal
notes that she did not participate in the inspections and work done by Mr. Hubbert or

any subsequent discussions or events,
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Exhibit 38, the agreement of purchase and sale package for her home, includes an
extended §-year waranty applying to all mechanical, electrical and plumbing systems
against defects in materials and workmanship given by Fermbrook. The covered
components include the fumace, central air conditioning, gas fireplace and heat
recovery system, the central vacuum and electrical wiring. Schedule A to the
agreement of purchase and sale is the same wording as is contained in the Applicants’
agreement of purchase and sale referred to abave,

In reviewing the Hubbert Report and the tables provided in Exhibit 45, for Homeowner
#2's lof, the Tribunal notes that Mr. Hubbert's investigation in Apri! 2005 indicated that
an inadequate heat loss calouation (deficient by over 10%) had been done by
Fernbrook's engineer on this property and further that the home required a new hot
water tank and an adjustment of the return air in order to be OBC compliant.

Homeowner #3

Homeowner #3 was called in reply by the Applicants. Mr. Genge had testified that his
opinion ot the prahable cause of the problems in the Applicants’ home, subsequent to
his reporis Exhibits 27 and 28, was heing influenced by his observations of the work in
this homeowner's home in the fall of 2007 after he had completed those reports.

Homeowner £3 described the attempts to provide her home with consistent heating and
cooling at a satisfactory level, which she said included four years of tesiing that
ultimately led to testing in the other 51 hames and replacement of the entire system in

her home in the fall of 2007.

She testified that she had met with Mr. Peticca in 2002 with other homeownars fo
discuss the problems that the homeowners were having with the HVAC systems in the
homes, including the difficuities heating the homes. The contractor used by Fernbrook
made several attampts in four years 1o rectify the situation. Homeowner #3 had been
acfive in the homeowners group, which had gone to the City when they could not get
any satisfaction from Fernbrook or Tarion on their complaints.

Her home was one of the three homes initially looked at by Mr. Husbbert on the retainer
by the City. The Hubbert Report had concluded that the heat loss caiculations in her
home were wrong, that she needed a larger hot water tank and additional duct work.
She was an active participant in the investigative work done in July 2005 by Mr. Hubbert
and his firm in the individual homes. Her task was to count the number of outlets in
each home while Mr. Hubbert took airflow measurements. One of the City staff also
participated in the investigation. She prepared a system of survey sheets to be filled in
by each of the homeowners. A copy of the form was made available to the City, Mr.
Hubbert, the buifder or cantractor and the homeowner. Exhibit 44 is a copy of the form
for the Applicants’ home indicating the date of inspection, the mode! of the house, the
air handler modeil, the number of autlets, etc. and ohservations on the remedial work.

Exhibit 45 is a table which Homeowner #3 prepared showing in summary form the
results of the survey and the work done including the measurements of the airflow and
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air return, the number of outlets, the criginal heat loss calculation on file with the Town,
the new heat loss calculation by Mr, Hubbert’s firn and the remedial work to be done.
For eight of the addresses there is no notation. The heat loss calculations were
different in all cases where both existed, with Mr. Hubbert's being the higher figure.

Though she worked with Mr. Hubbert, she was dissatisfled with the results of his work
for her home. She testified that on November 1, 2005 he tested the airflow from the
outiets and then sent a letter, essentially signing off from any further work. She testified
that after the remedial wark was done, on Novembar 8, 2005 she had Mr. Bowser re-
measure the airflow. Mr. Hubbert had measured 727 CFM before the work was done
and Mr. Bowser measured 768 CFM afler all the work had been done. This work had
included installation of an enommous new commercial size hot water tank that required
the removal of doar frames to get it in the house, and the addition of outiets and

adjustments to return air.

Given that the leve! of CFM according fo the manufaciurer was supposed fa be 1100,
she coniacted Tarion again, only lo be told that its hands were tied because the City
had agreed that the system was OBC compliant based on Mr. Hubbert's work.

Exhibit 42 is a copy of a lefter sent to Tarion January 9, 2006 and sighed by various
hemeowners, including both the Applicants and Homeowner #3. The letter cites the
City’s order to comply requiring the installation of new water tanks and the testing by Mr.
Bowser establishing that the installation does not bring the HVAC systems inlo
compliance. The letter also refers to a lefter received by all the homeowners from the
City dated May 19, 2005 identifying three issues that need to be addressad, one of
which was the insufficient capacity of the hot water tank. The other two issues were:

o The engineer has identified that the air handler does not deiliver the airflow
capacity to handle the cooling systems without special coils and controls, and
= Balancing the system needs to bs done o determine if sufficient air can be

delivered to the 2™ fioor.

These two iterns remained outstanding, some 8 months after the City's letter. The letter
of January 9, 2006 contained attachments as described, though Exhibit 42 was a copy
only of the cover letter. The letier goes an to state that the City's Chief Building Official
would only state that the modified HVAC system (with the new hot water tank) is
capable of achieving the performance requirements of Section 6.2.1.2(1) of the OBC but
he had refused to state that the HVAC system complies with other sections of the OBC,

She testified that in her home under the Hubbert Report recommmendations 13 outlets
were added to the outlets in the system and additional duct work was also connected (o

the unit in the basemant.

Homeowner #3 took photographs of the HVAC system including what was revealed to
be behind the walls when the drywall was removed to expose the duct work. Fxhibit 41
is a set of photographs with her comments, showing original instailation problems as
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well as repair work that Fembrook's contractor had tried o do to fix the HVAC system
deficiencies.

in the falt of 2007 the whole HVAC system was replaced. The removal of the drywall in
the course of that work revealed problems in the instaliation of the ducts including kinks
in the ducts where there should be none, a piece of plenumn pipe that was taped at the
end, rather than connected, and what she described as twists and tumns in the ducting
and disconnects of return air.  She testified that she paid $15, 900 towards the repairs,
but because of the special atrangement she had made, another party absorbed the
lion’s share of the cost, which she understood to be $120,000. Her family had moved
out of the home while the work was done and the home was comploetely repaired and
restored after the work was compleied. She did not provide any invoices to support the

cost figures.

EXPERT WITNESSES

The Applicants ratained John R. Kokko who is a Professional Engineer (Mechanical)
who specializes it HVAC systems. He is the Vice President and Director of
Commissioning Services of Enermodal Engineering Limited. He is registered as a
Designer under the OBC with respect to “Houses HVAC", though most of his work and
other qualifications relate to commercial rather than residential buildings.

As [s clear from his posilien title, he is frequently retained to commission HVAC systems
newly installed. [a addition, he examines existing systems to determine if work is
required in both the commercial and residential situations. He also designs HVAC
systems and he has worked with manufacturers and Natural Resources Cahada to
design and approve designs of air handling equipment for residential situations. Since
high velocity systems such as the one instalied in this home are high energy users, he
does not frequently work with such systems as his work is in trying to reduce energy
use in buildings. He has never tastified in a case in court, but has given expert opinion
evidence on the Ontario Hydro 25 year plan for new generation capacity. He is not
familiar with the Tarion warranty system, but he is familiar with the air handling and

HVAC system installed in the Applicants’ home.

He has experience in assisting HVAC system manufacturers and their customers in
putting in new or fixing problems in installed HVAC systems. In those latter
circumstances, his efforts are directed to make the systam work, rather than to
determine who is at fault. He was critical of the refusal of Tarion’'s expert, Mr. Genge, {0
participate in a joint inspection and analysis of the Applicants’ home that might have
resulted in a joint recommendation on how to modify the system or to replace the

system to resolve the issues.

His letters of apinion are Exhibit 5, Tab D, (a report dated October 24, 20086 following an
on site visit), and Tab E (lefter dated November 20, 2006). Exhibit 8 contains the
appendix to the report with the calculations. Between preparation of the two
documents, Tabs D and E, he obtained access to manufacturer's specifications.
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LL—tejsi protocol designed to ensure that the components of the system were operating
- proper® and using equipment designed for the purpose of rmaking the measuremanis
he needed. His report and his evidence included a description of the steps he took in
that regard. His evidence and his report set out the protocol for his testing and will not
be reproduced here in detail as Mr. Genge, the expert for Tarion, had na dispute with
ihe testing methods or the outcomes recorded. It is, however, important to note that he
took his measurements when the himiter on the water heater was set at 140 deg F and
also when the limiter was off and the temperature was as high as the gauge would set,
something in excess of 160 deg F. The measured water temperatures were 116 deg F

on the first test and 133 deg F on the second test.

His conclusions were that the measured output of the air handling system was less than
the calculated heating load and less than what the OBC requires. The result means
that the airflow from the HVAC systemn cannot meet the demands due to loss of heat in
the home. His opinion was that the system in the home cannot meet the requirements of
the OBC of maintaining a temperature of 22 deg C when the cutside tenperature js —18
deg C. Given the substantial difference betwaen the measured output and the
calculated heating load that he estirmated (o be in excess of 20%, the result of his test is
consistent with the observations of the Applicants that the house was cooler than it
should be. He testified that the systern is not able to put out the heat that is required to
keep the house at 22 deg C based on the measurements he took and the heat loss

caiculations.
His conclusions specifically were:

o With the water heater set to 140 deg F, the output capacity was well below the
heating load ot the house.

» Raising the water heater to a termperature over 160 deg F raised the output but
not sufficiently — it was still well below the heating load.

¢« The haating system s not dclivering the heating capacity required by the heat

ioss calcutations.
« Ajrflow in the hause is significantly below the manufacturer's rated 1,100 CFM for

the unit,

= There is a significant shortcoming with the fan capacity and static pressure

provided by the air handler, which is ¢nly providing 893 CFM at 1.3" E.S.P.

The ducting system, as installed, has too much restriction and is not capable of

delivering the 1100 CFM at 1.6" E.S.P. even if the air handler could do it.

s The existing ducting systemn will never deliver all the required zirflow at anywhere
near the operatng point that the design should have been for, with the
manufacturer’s ratings on the air handier.

s it is impossible for the existing fan to move the design airflow of 1100 CFM
against the extemal static pressure required by the existing duct design.
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He also noted ihat some paints had not yet been proven:

¢ That the fan coil in the air handler is capable of operating at the manufacturers
rated output capacity if the airflow is increased {o the rated 1100 CFM.

« The water flow through the unit,

» The exact entering water temperature from the water heater.

He indicated that these three points are not the limiting factors in the performance:
rather, it is the combination of the air handler not being capable of providing the
required airflow and the duct work not being capable of carrying the required airflow at a
static pressure near the required design value.

His recommendations were:

« Verify an accurate room by room heat ioad calculation to ansure the heating and
airflow requirement for each room is known.

+ Get a new heating system that has an air handler to replace the existing one that
can provide the airflow and heating capacity required for the house. The
replacement unit could be either a higher heat output and zirflow ¢apacity air
handler with hot water coil fed from the hot water heater or it could be a
conventional high efficiency furnace.

» Replace the existing duct work to increase the number of runs, probably by 50%.
He nated that adding this many ducts wouid not likely be a practical soilution and
it would be easier to simply install 2 more conventional ducting system.

« Finally, balance the systems to verify that they are working as expected and that
every room obtains its airflow and heating capacities required.

He likened this work to redesigning and reinstalling the hearing and ducting systems.m

Mr. Kokko explained the theory behind the air handiing system and the high velocity
system and identified components that must work at the comect level and consistently in
order for the system to meet the heat loss requirements of the home. He testified that
the test he conducted involved pushing as much air as hard as the equipment was
designed to push. Putting in more ducts reduces the resistance to the air flow, just as

kinks or bends may provide more resistance.

He was never asked to do a detailed design of modifications to the system. He
estimated a cost of $8,000 for the work. He was cross-examined as to his experierice
with costing of contracts and, while it has heen three years since he provided costing for
an HVAC systern for a home, he is knowledgeable about labour rates for mechanical
installations, albeit in a commercial context. His firm does provide estimates c¢n

installations of systems.

" Exhibd 5, Tab E
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In cross-examination he confirmed that if the heat loss were less, then the HVAC
gystem theoretically could maliniain the temperature required by the OBC.

He gid not conduct the same tests as the Tarion consuftant.

Dara Bowser

Mr. Bowser is a Certified Architectural Technologist. His qualifications and experience
are outlined in Exhibit 14A. His firm, Bowser Technical Inc., is a small consulting firm,
which specializes in HVAC systems. Me is personally and his firm is qualified under the
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing certification system for the OBC as a designer
and is designated as qualified for HVAC systems for houses and small buildings as weil
as other qualifications'’. He has taught courses on the OBC to municipal building
officials. His firm designs custom HVAC systems at a rate of ai least one a day and
does fault investigations at a rate of about one per month. His own home has a combo
system. He has been accepted as an expert withess at tha Tribunal in the past on a
retainer by Tarion. He has knowledge and expertise in the OBC requirements for HVAC
systems, and he files plans and designs for approval by Chief Building Officials in
municipalities. He is an instructor for HRAL

Taricn objected to his being accepted as an expert witness ¢on the basis that he was
identified as the agent for the Applicants to the Building Code Commission on the
appeal of the order to comply launched in late 2006. Expern witnesses are supposed to
be independent and impartial and not advocates of their clients’ causes. Mr. Bowser
completed the form for the appeal, which requires detailed information on the OBC
sections in dispute and a concise statement conceming the nature of the dispute. In
this appeal there were 9 items under the OBC. The Tribunal rejected this objection to
Mr. Bowser teslifying as an expert. An analogous situation might be the filing of an
application for approval under the Planning Act for rezoning, which is normally done by
an expert land use planner on behalf of a landowner, and the planner thereafter
testifying as to his opinion before the Ontario Municipat Board on the appeal from the
municipality’s refusal to grant the application. These specialized applications are clearty
beyond a reasonable expectation for the knowledge of a member of the public or lay
property owner {0 complete.  Tarion’s suggestion that the homeowners, with the
exceplion of those such as Homeowner #1 who have expertise that is pertinent,
realistically could have gone forward with the appeal without expert assistance and that
Mr. Bowser must thereafter be seen only as an advocate is untenabte. The Tribunal
does not find that Mr. Bowser, by completing the form as agent and assisting the
Applicants with the process in a very technical tribunal environment, has taintad his
independence as an expert, and the Tribunal accepted him as qualified to give opinn

evidence on HVAC systems.

Mr. Bowser testified to his considerable experience with the type of system installed in
the Applicant's home. |{e was retained by the builder on the probiems in Homeowner
#1's condominium townhouse development. He was retained by Homeowner #3 o

7 Cxhibsit 148
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assist her with respect to the HVAC problems in her home. He has been involved in the
prablems with the HVAC system in this development for the longest period of time and
in the most depth, of any of the experts called.

Mr. Bowser was ciear thatl his retainer by the Applicants was to advise with respect to
OBC compliance. He was not retained to conduct a detailed investigation of the
installation and the problems in it. At first blush, one mignt be cntical of the Applicants
in not expanding the retainer to thal stage, but in the context of Tarion's emphasis on
compliance with the OBC and the adversarial position with the City on that very issue,
the limited retainer makes a great deal of sense.

Mr. Bowser's reports with respect to the Applicants” home are contained in Exhibits 3,
Tab C and G. Exhibits 21 and 22 are the reports relating to the condominium
development of Homeowner #1. Exhibit 37 relates to Homeowner #3's home and
testing conducted there. Mr. Bowser testified that he brought Mr. Kokko into {he case
because he thought that he needed to have a professional engineer do the air flow

calcutations and assessment.

Mr. Bowser prepared a one page report dated September 22, 2008 (Exhibit 5 Tab C)
setting out that the system with the new Polaris tank only provides 71% of the heating
capacity required under section 6.2.1.1(1) of the OBC™ and does not meet the capacity

required under section 6.2.1.2. (1)."®

Tab G of Exhibit 5 is his Expert Summary Report dated December 18, 2006 in which he
sets out in detail his position that the HVAC system as installed does not comply with
the OBC. He also expresses the opinion that there are workmanship deficiencies and
defects in materials identified in his report Exhibit & Tab C, as follows:

» The iloop between the air handler and the water heater does not contain the
throttiing valves recommendesd by the HRAI Combo Guide®.

¢ The speed controis on the face of the air handier are difficult for an ordinary
person to adjust to achieve a predictable result.

» Many of the outlets are located closer than 87 to the walls, contrary {0 the system
supplier's installation manual.

He recommended the replacement of the entire system and installation of & system of
conventional design and construction. He rejects the modification of the existing system
and the adding of a system for the attic because # is not possible 10 say for certain
whether that modification would be successful or less costly than replacing the original

system with a code-compliant system.

"% “Heating, ventilation and air-conditioning systems .. shall be designed, copstructed and instatled t© conform to

n0d engineering practice appropriate to the circumstances such as described in..,”

“ Buildings classified as Group B, Divigion 2 or 2 occupancies or Group C residential occupancices thar are
ixtended for use in the winter monihs on a continuing basis shall be insulated and equipped with heating facihities
that are capable of maintaimng an indoor air teperature of 22 deg € {72deg F) at the ontgide winter design
temperatare referred 1010 Arncle &1 2.8
) Exlibit 20
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In addition, Mr. Bowser produced an estimate from a contractor for the recommended
remadial work. He testified that he has had five to tan jobs with this contractor without
any complaint. He described the estimates as a good starting point. The scope of work
is the demolition and removal of the existing system, and replacement of the HVAC
system with a conventional farced air heating system with sheet meta! ductwork and the
restoration of the house thereafter. The cost includes commissioning of the HVAC
system after instailation, repair of the building, boxing, painting and redecorating as well
as a design fee and a fee to commission and balance the system. The total cost is

$20.0002

Gerald Genge

Gerald Genge was refained by Tarion a fow weeks priar to the hearing. His finn is
Gerald R. Genge Building Consuitants He is a Civil Engineer by training and received
his P. Eng in 1977. His curriculum vitae is Exhibit 25. His main focus during the years
between 1977 and 1983 appears {o have been on the building envelope, that is walls,
windows and doors, roofs, structural integrity and components such as parking garages.
Unlike Mr. Bowser and Mr. Kokko, ha has not maintained his BCIN for himself with the
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing and at no time sought the qualification under
the OBC as a designer for "House HVAC”, as they did and have®* He relies on his
qualification as a professional engineer to support any applications for building permits
that he may be required to submit for a client, rather than the BCIN from the Ministry as
provided for under the Ontario Building Code Act, 2008.

Mr. Genge was accepted as qualified to give opinion evidetice on building deficiencies
subject to the concermns that were raised as {o the limited exposure he has had to HVAC
systams. It was clear from his evidence that he is not and does not purport to be a
mechanical engineer with a specialized knowledge of HVAC systems. His main
business (s in analyzing problems in buildings and recommending iterative processes
for uncovering the cause of the problems. He obtains expertise from others, as he
requires it to address particular problems. He acknowledged that in the course of any
work to specify the problems causing the insufficient heating in this home, he would
consult a professional engineer specializing in HVAC systems.

Mr. Genge's knowledge af the high velocity combo systems, such as the one in this
home, comes from his relainer on two disputes, the first being the townhouse
development of Homeowner #1 and the second being the subject house and another
property in this development more recently (Homeowner #3). The first dispute dates
back approximately three years when he was asked (o advise on the heating/cooling
problems in the townhouse development. He wrote a report with his recommendations,
but has not been involved since.

2

 See Lxhihit 26
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On the davelopment in this case. he visited the Applicant's home in the company of G.
Wade Graham, P. Eng. who undentook cartain measurements of the HVAC system. M.
Graham was allowed access 1o the home to conduct tests by order of the Tribunatl at &
motion August 30, 2007.%° While the order specified Mr. Graham’s attendance, Mr.
Genge also attended and, according to the Applicants, they had little choice but to let
him in. In the course of that site visit, Mr. Genge took rough measurements of the
rooms on which he based a heat loss calcuiation, which he fairly characterized as an
estimate to determine if the heat loss calculations already done were within a
reasonable range. He took phatographs of the equipment and recorded information

noted by Mr. Graham.

Despite the fact that Mr. Graham had conducted the tests that were done on the
mechanical systems of the air handler and tank and had signed the onginal report, he
was not cailled to testify. The reason given was that he had resigned his part time
contract with Mr. Genge's company in the intervening period. Mr. Graham is not a
mechanical engineer with HVAC system sexpertise, as 18 Mr. Kokko.

Mr. Genge also has had access in the fali of 2007 to the home of Homeowner #3 where
subsiantial work was being undertaken to address heating/cooling issues. He
acknowledges that his conclusions since he wrote his reports on the Applicants’ home
in September 2007 have been informed by his involvement since then at the other
property. Specifically, he is aware that instaliation problems with the HVAC system in
the other home in this developrment have been identified as a resuit of the work being
done, and he believes that the return air supply may be a factor in the Applicants’ home,
as it appears now te be a factor in the other home.

Mr. Genge prepared a raport dated September 14, 2007* and a cost estimate
comtained in a letter dated September 17, 2007%°. He had no criticism of the
methodology or conclusions arrived at by Mr. Kokko, with the exception that Mr. Kakko's
measurements of the retum air and his conclusion that the retum air is not the problem.
Mr. Genge, based on what he has seen in the other house, believes that retum air may

be an issue.
Mr. Genge's reportt includes a recital of the history of the approval of the building pemnit
for the house and HVAC system dasign dated April 6, 2000. He provides a brief

analysis of the OBG requirements for heating and air conditioning. He then reviews the
Ontario New Home Warranty Plans Act and inciudes the following statement:

"Based on the two complaints of structural integrity of the foundation walls and the
settlement of the éast wall, we balieve that the warranties that appty are:..”

Ciearly this staternent does not relate to this property.

* See Order of the Tribunal August 30, 2007, released August 31, 20607,
H Exhibit 27

¥ Exhibit 28
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The report goes on fo describe the home and the HVAC system design. When he did
his inspaction in September 2007, the Polaris hot water tank with a storage capacity of

“117.2 USG" was instailed?®.

At this point it is important 16 note that the repart containg yet another arror, this time
with respect to the motor. [n the process of describing the system, he reviewed the
published performance information provided by Energy Savings Products Ltd. in a
manual that the Applicants had provided to him. He ncoted in his report the % HP motor
in the system operating at 7.5 amps.

fn the inspection, the current drawn by the blower motor was measured and found io be
6.5 amps. He noted in his report at page 4:

“This is less than the rated amperage at full foad {7.5 amps), as such, the fan is
producing less than the required volume of alr flow ©

Exhibit 36 consists of two photographs of the motor indicating it is a ¥ hsp 6 amp motor.
White the manufacturer's specification was for a 7.5 amp motor, the motor in fact was a
6.0 amp motor and the fan was n fact measured at 2 currant in excess of the rated

amperage.

Mr. Genge then proceeded to do heat loss caiculations. He referred to the calculations
done by the original designer of 53,604 BTUH which aill agreed were inaccurate. He
calculated a heat loss of 52,000 BTUH (which he expressed as "BTHU", reversing the
last two letters) though he noted certain exclusions to his calculation. He concludes

with respect {0 heat loss as follows:

“The installed heating system with g hot water temperature of 140 dg F and sufficient air
movement through the fan coit should be able to produce 85,000 BTUH and thus bse
capable of meeting the needs of this home, calcuiaied by others at 83,604 BTUH plus

10% and thus 59,000 BTUH."

It is important to note that Tanon had aiready taken the position that whatever
deficiency existed in the capacity of the system had been rectified by the work following
on Mr. Hubber!'s investigation. The Importance of Mr. Genge calcujating a heat joss
figure less than the original calculation was thatl this relationship supporied Tarion's

position as to the adequacy of the system.

Mr. Genge then proceeded to conduct temperature readings in the actual vents
themselves, even though the outdoor {emperature was 32 deg C and the air
condifioning was on. He took the temperature readings at the nozzle (or outlet) on the
floor to assess existence of faults in the distribution system such as inconsistent
supplies. The temperatures in the nozzle ail ranged between 8.5 and 13.6 deg C. He
did not measure the temperature in the house beyond the nozzles, something that
would be impacted by having too few nozzles or having air not properly distributed
through the house. As a rasult of his temperature readings, he found an anomalous

 Mr. Genge latex corrected this figure indicating that the 117.2 was in litres and that the Polaris was a 34 USG tank.
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higher value {19 deg C) in the TV area of the basement level. He concluded that this
value indicated that the distribution duct to that nozzle is either disconnected or kinked
so that supply is incomplete. Despite this obvious prohlem and without referring to the
temperature in the moms, his overall conclusion was that the air conditioning system

was performing satisfactorily.

He then went on {o deal with the issue of sound level readings, information which is not
heipful since the noise levels are acknowledged to be higher than other systems but

outside the appeal.

Mr. Genge concluded as follows:

“The system as observed during our site visit Is apparently configured to provide
adequate heatl to the home except there is insufficient air volume at the supply fan as
determined by the amperage measurement drawn by the fan motor, We do not know the
operating conditions or the performance of the system during winter design condition as
our ingpection was schedule [sic] for a hot day in September. The system appeared to
be functipning adequately for air conditioning at an cutdoor temparature above the design
temperature. It is thersfore, probable that the air supplied by the fan, though less than
the design maximum, is sufficien: to haat the home as well as cool the home.”

He recommended that lemperature measurements be taken over weeks in January and
February {o caplure the values during potential periods of design femperature (-18 deg
C). His opinion was that until such measurements were laken, there was no clear

evidence that the home heating system Is not working as required.

Mr. Genge disputed the solution proposed by Mr. Bowser that the entire system should
be replaced at an estimated cost of $90,000. He recommends an iterative process
beginning with correction of the problem causing the fan speed to be less than required
to deliver the design volume of air. He said that the water temperature delivered to the
coil should be increased to deliver more heat to be extracted by the fan coil unit. He
regarded the replacement of the fan coil unit with a larger one as the worst case
scenario. He acknowledged that with the larger unit, the supply pipe would reguire
upsizing fo 1 in. diameter and additional nozzles would be required to accommodate the
increased air supply. Mr. Genge was of the view, based on his personal experience in
medifying the system fo allow acceptable performance, that the existing system could
be modified. He stated that the modifications in that ¢ase were 10 add additional vents
and correct the wiring of the fan moter. His personal experience was the townhouse
development of Homeowner #1 referred to above.

Atter Mr. Genge and Mr. Graham conducted thair tests, the fan motor on the Applicants’
system stopped working. This motor is critical to the heating of the house and
functioning of the systams. Tarion provided assurance that the repiacement of the
motor with the same or a comparable model wouid not void the warranty and Fembrook
agreed to pay for the motor because there was an extended wamanty on {hat motor
bayond the Tarion warranty. Mr. Genge made some inquiries as to whether or not the
tests that his firm conducted could have caused the motor 10 fail. The technician who
viewed the motor fo {ry to get it into working order was of the view that the motor had
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bumed out and that nothing that Mr. Genge or Mr. Graham did would have caused this
outcome as the tests were described to him. The motor supplier indicated that they
have some experience with the motors not being properly wired in these units, with the
wiring being done so that the motor will not be connected properly to the knob for the

higher setting.

Exhibits 34 and 35 are the records of the motor reptacement. The motor was replaced
at the end of October and on December 1 it had broken down again. On December 3%
a technician from Downsview Hearing and Air Conditioning Ltd., the original instalter,
got the fan working again, but on December 8, the motor had stopped and was replaced

again.

At this point the Tribunal notes that Mr. Kokko was called in reply evidence to testify as
to the result for the motor of the door being opened, the potential for the motor to have
been working at a rate that would burn out the insulation and cause it to fail
prematurely, and to clanfy that the motor was in fact rated at less than the manufacturer

specified for the air handling system.

Mr. Genge frankly concluded that he had heen calied in with very liitle time to do the
work, admifting that he had been handed a bundie of reparts which he had nof
reviewed, and that the figures in his report were based on what another engineer had
told him. One of the most bilatant errors was in misreading the size of the motor for the
fan in the HVAC system, but other ermors noted above indicate a lack of attentiveness o
detail and therefore undermine the weight that can be put on his evidence.

Mr. Genge did acknowledge that he had seen the demolition at Homeowner #3's
property and he believed that the Applicant’s praperty might also have an issue with the
retumn air. He noted in cross-examination that the retum air is a very important part of
the systern, but not part that is included in the Energy Savings Producis Lid HV100. He
explained that the system would have problems in heating the home if the supply side
has excessive back pressure created by crimps or blocks in the ducts or if the return
ducting is benl or not large enough. He testified that he saw obstruction in Homeowner
#3's return air in the course of that work. He indicated that with the water temperature
set above 140 deg F a mixing valve could be used and that devise, he estimated, at

abeut $20 to buy.

One of the major difficulties in accapling Mr. Genge’s conclusion that the retum air is &
problem is that both Mr. Kokko and Mr. Hubbert are of the view that the return air is pot
the problem, or at least in Mr. Hubbert's case that it was fine when he was through his

work in 2005-06.

Mr. Genge insisted that the system was producing 800 to 800 CFM even though Mr.
Kokko had measured 693 CFM. He remained resistant to the idea of replacing the old
system, though he added the impodant qualifier in saying that he did not know if the
system had to be replaced yet. He testified that he contacted the manufacturer in
Edmonton who told him that a {ot of eguipment in Ontario is not wired propery so he
would want to check that. He stuck to his opinion set out in Exhibit 28 of starting an
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iterative process, with the fan coil, at a cost that he estimated at less than $8,000 and
going forward i that fix doos not work. He estimated an additional $2,000 for a
therrmographic test of the duct system and interpretation and about $800 for a camera to
be snaked through the duct system plus an additional amount for analysis of the results.
He confirmed that his estimate of $8,000 did not include anything outside the fumace
room; yet any work involving the duct in the basement for which the anomalous
tempearature reading had been made would include additional work putside the furnace

room,

With respect to compliance with the OBC, Mr. Genge testified that his view was that the
system did not specifically contravene a perfermance requirement, but he could not say
if it complied with the OBC in all aspects. He testified that his view was that there was
air leakage out of the plenum, the main duct carrying the warm air through the house
and that that shouid be fixed. He said under cross-examination that he and Mr, Graham
concluded that there is something amiss in the system. Again the Tribunal is left with
his opinion that work outside the furnace room is required, but no figure from him

estimating the cost has been producad.

Mr. Genge acknowledged that the instaflation of the new hot water tank should have
complied with the 2006 OBGC rather than the earlier OBC. He also agresd that it would
be prudent to obtain a pamit if the HVAC system were replaced.

With respect to the townhouses in Homeowner #1's developmaent, Mr. Genge recalled
that there was a misalignment of the cold air retums in the system so that the return air
was blocked by 50%. Ha testified that he produced what he called a punch list for the
buiider to use with the townhouses, based on four units that he inspected. The punch
fist included steps 10 be taken on all the units in the development and he was to be
called back if these fixes did not work. He did not know the outcome because he was
rot asked back. He could not, therefore, provide any contradicting evidence to that of

Homeowner #1 or Mr. Bowser.

While Mr. Genge had reviewed the Hubbert report, he could not advise of any follow-up
that had been recommended by Mr. Hubbert, i.e. a certification of the air handling
system and further follow up {0 assess the issues that werg leading to the problems of
heating the home. He was aware that the City had issued a compfiance order under the
0BC that required replacement of the water tank. He was not aware of what had
occurred between the receipt of the Hubbert report and the issuance of the compliance

order.

Mr. Genge faidy acknowledged that he is not an expert in HVAC systems and does not
design them. He doss not use on a regular hasis the standard documents that
designers use and that are referred to in the OBC. He showed a general familiarity with
the principles on which the analysis of the capacity of the HVAC system rested.

No explanation was given as to why, in the period of two years since this appeal was
filed, Tarion had not involved Mr. Genge sooner or conducted tests in the winter time, or
involved an engineer with HVAC qualifications and expertise
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Both Mr. Kokko and Mr. Genge identified components other than the water tank which
were potential causes of the heating issues. The City ordered the Applicants to instail a
new larger capacity hot water tank o bring their home into compliance with the Ontario
Building Code. Neither Mr. Kokko or Mr. Grenge knew how the City had gone from the
recommendations of the Hubberl Report 1o a determination that the hot water tark
needed to be replaced in order for the system to be Code compliant. Mr. Bowser was
also not able to clarify this apparent teap in logic. This lack of communication is
genuinely surprising to the Tribunal, given the cianty of the avidence of Mr. Hubbert
when he was called under summons on March 27" Much of the time spent in the
evidence in October 2007 could have been saved if any one of the parties had obtained
the information from Mr. Hubbert. The Tribunal notes that the issue of which of the
parties would call Mr. Hubbert to testify was canvassed before the Tribuna! in a motion
to add tha City as a party to the proceedings, heard on September 8, 2008. As noted in
the order that issued from that motion, it was open to the Added Party to call Mr.
Hubbert, especially as Mr. Peticca on that motionr was "particularly concerned that the
recommendations of the expert hired by the municipality and who made
recommendations for repairs which the Added Party intended to carry out, be put before

this Tribunal.”

At that motion in September 2006 the City had argued that Taron did not have to rely
on the municipaiity’s reports since they had had their own experts examine the claims of
the Applicants and they could bring the City's reports forward by way of summans.”’

The Hubbert Report was filed as Exhibit 7. Tab 14 and was reviewed in detail in the
hearing during the testimony of the engineering experts called by the Applicants and
Taron. In Reply, the Applicants called Mr. Hubbert to testify on summons on less than

24 hours notice.
John D. Hubbert

Mr. Hubbert testified that he was retained by the City to produce revised heat ioss
calculations and to condugt investigations and rnake recommendations to bring the
homes into compliance with the Building Code. His tests were conducted first in three
“guinea pig homes” and later in all the homes in the subdivision. The tesis and heat
loss calculations established that in only one case was the system producing required

airflow of 1100 CFM.

in the Huhbert Repart, Mr. Hubbert gave his opinion as to the deficiencies in the HVAC
systams. He concluded that the heat losses of the units were larger than was used as.
the basis of the designs and that the hot waler tankg had only a limited output and
insufficient capacity to meet the heating and domestic water heating obligations. Also
he found that the Hi-Veiccity air handler used to heat the air does not deliver tha airflow
capacity necessary for adeguate heating in the iarger homes nor sufficient air to handle
the larger cooling systems. His Report contained recommendations that certified ratings

=" Reasons fur Decision. relensed September 12. 2006
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the heat loads based on the ambient conditions, and rework the heating distribution and
reapportion the outiets accordingly.®®

Mr. Hubbert further testified that the City gave him a limited retainer to bring the
systems to OBC comphance. He achieved this in his view with various steps and
recommendations. He testified that an detailled investigation he and his team found that
n some homes there were vents missing and in other homes the duct wark was not
sufficient to meet the manufacturer's specifications for minimum number of ducts. In
other homes the return air ducts had to be fixed. In almost all the homas he
recormmended that a larger size of hot water tank be obtainad. He testified that he went
to the supplier that Fernbrook had used and asked them for the next size up from what
had been installed, and the supplier indicated that the Polaris water tank was the
appropriate tank one size larger. The purpose of getting 38 larger capacity hot water
tank was fo increase the temperature of the air that could be produced to improve the
potential that the system would heat the house and overcome the fact that the system
was not producing the CFM's required. He testified that he was not surprised that the
investigation results had indicated the sherifaii, especially as there was no certified

rating for the equipment in {he system.

Based on these recormmendaticns, the City apparently issued the order to comply noted
above.

Mr. Hubbert testified that in fact Fernbrock did not implement the recommendations of
the Hubbert Report. The investigation underfaken by the City had included discussions
with the distributor of the system who advised that no certified ratings were available
from the manufacturer, despite representations from the manufacturer as to the capacity

cf the system.

Mr. Hubbert testified that at the conclusion of his retainer, which exiended into the
winter of 2005-06, all the houses in the development were OBC compliant. He also
testified that being OBC cormpliant did not mean that every room in a bouse at all times
would have & lemperature of 22 deg F {(assuming the themnostat is set to that
temperature), especially with multi-level homes such as the Applicants’. In fact, the
expectation is that there will be variations in temperature as between the rooms and
levels and as impacted by weather particularly and other factors that relate io heat
transfer and loss within a building, He testified that there are good, better and best
systems and that this system is not top quaiity. The system is designed to heat the
homes, to do a job, but it does not even give floor by floor heating. He said that there
were Improvements that couid be made and that what he could noi fix as a homeowner
he would live with. He cautioned against a solution that involved replacing the entire
system including tearing out walls, unless one has investigated to determine exactly
where the problems are and unless one is prepared for the tremendous cost involved.
He was clear that there is a difference in quality of systems, and that you can get an
adequate system that meets the requirements of the OBC, but does not heat the house

well.

B gee Txecutive Sumumary, Exhilit 7 {ab 14
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He was aiso cfear that his retainer had not been to fix the healing problems in the
houses and, when pressed to offer an opinion, he indicated 2 process of analysis of the
installed system to determine if the components were properly installed and operating
as designed and intended as a system.

The Tribunal appreciates the candour of Mr. Hubbert who is clearly an exparienced
engineer. He believed that by fixing the heating capacity fo heat the air to a higher
temperature. the system would be compliant with the OBC and provide the heating
needed. He did not conduct the tests undertaken by Mr. Kokko or Mr. Genge. He
refers to the problems of the air handler but the issue appears to have been dropped
after his report. He did not seem surprised in the course of his testimony at the
potential that the Applicants still had problems with heating the home. His
recommendations in the witness stand to investigate the ongoing issues mirror the
iterative process put forward in a more limited way by Mr. Genge.

't is clear from the evidence that of the expert witnesses called, Mr. Kokka is the best
qualified and that, with Mr. Bowser, the Applicants’ experts have conducted the most
intensive examination of the Applicant's home. Mr. Kokko's opinion was cleary
influenced by his experience in being brought in to try to solve problems in heating
systems so that the owner of the building has a working system, completely in accord
with the intent of the legislation that provides the warranties for new homebuyers.

Fermbrook Homes {Hampstead) Limited

Fernbrook participated fully in this hearing through Mr. Peticca who is employed by
them and who aftended the hearing and cross-examined withesses. Counse! appeared
chn behalf of Fernbrook for tha last three days of the hearing. Mr. Peticca testified and
Homeowner #2 was called as part of Fembrook's case.

In the course of his cross-axamination of the witnesses called by Tarion and by the
Applicant, Mr. Peticca raised various issues. [n essence, the basis of Fembrook's casa

was that

it had installed a system that was ¢f a design that could function properly,
it had met the OBC reqguirsments,

+ the City agreed with them that they had met those OBC requirements, and
¢ OBC compliance was the limit of their obligations t¢ the Applicants.

At the conclusion of Tarion's case, Mr. Peticca made a statement thal the starting point
for the analysis should be to see if the system could mseet the OBC requirements at —18
deg C. He acknowledged that there was information thatl the airflow was inadequate
and that there were possibiiities that could be explored to improve the airflow. He
indicated that he would be making measurements and maonitoring the temperature with
sensors, but he acknowledged at that point in the hearing that other things did not jibe.
Mis position ultimately was that if the end result is that the system is heating the house,
then "so what if the numbers are not met.” He indicated that the manufacturer should
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be the first person to fook at this and that he would be going to the manufacturer for
input to solve the problem.

When the hearing resumed in March 2008, Mr. Peticca's evidence did not deal with any
monitoring of air temperature, any follow up with the manufacturer, or any ideas on
improving the arrflow. There was no acknowladgement of anything being wrong. When
Mr. Peticca took the stand, now with counsel in attendance for Fembrook, his evidence
centered almost entirely on undermining the credibility of the Applicants as “Jdohnny-
come-lately” complainers who do not really have a problem, but who see an appartunity

because of the problems of their neighbours.

The correspondence in Exhibit 7 is directly to the contrary. The Tribunal accepts the
evidencea of the Applicants that they ware open in their complaints to Fembrook’s staff,
various of whom received documents fromn {he Applicants on outstanding issues
including the repairs required to the vents in the basement and that similar complaints
were widespread among the homes buiit. The Tribunal does not believe Mr. Peticca’'s
protestation of ignorance of the probiems the Applicants were having. Such a pasition
is inconsistent with his position that Fernbrook proactively went to the City with respect
to the concemns of the homeowners about the HVAC system.

There are significant contradictions between Mr. Peticca’s evidence and those of the
other witnessas. First, his evidence was that whatever Fernbrook had been required {o
do under the Hubberst Report recornmendations had been done by Fermbrock. This
evidence was directly contradicted by Mr. Hubberl's evidence. Specifically, Mr. Hubbert
recommended that certified ratings for the equipment should be obtained: no certified
ratings for the equipment were provided by the supplicr, the distributor, the
manufacturer or the instalier. If Fembrook had intended to fulfill the recommendations,
it had the opportunity to do s0 and had the expertise or could acquire the expertise to do

S0.

Also, Mr. Hubbert recommended that the heat loss calculations be redone to refiect the
built condition of the homes since it was acknowledged that the heat loss calculations
underestimated heat loss eithar by treating &t least one wall as a “warm”™ wall or party
wall rather than as a wall without an adjacent building (Mr. Peticca’s explanation}, or by
treafing basement walls as if they were buried when in fact the uniis had walk out
basements with exposed walls (Mr. Hubbert's exptanation). The retainer of the engineer
to complete the heat loss calculations properly was by and at the cost of the City, not by

and at the cost of Fernbrook.

Mr. Peticca also tock the position that the HVAC systemn that was installed was in fact
the system as described in the agreement of purchase and sale. This position flies in
the face of his evidence as to his dcalings with the City officials in getting their
agreement that the high velocity combo system wouid be approved and the evidence of
the forms used to obtain the City approval dated April 2000. The Tribunal also notes
that Mormeowner #2 signed her agreement of purchase and sale in May 2000 (Exhibit
38) and was in possession in early 2001. The Applicants signed their agreement of
purchase and sale in 2001 and took possassion in 2002. Both homes have the same
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38) and was in possession in early 2001. The Applicants signed their agreement of
purchase and sale in 2001 and took possession in 2002. Both homes have the same
HVAC system and in both agreements of purchase and sale the HVAC system is
descniped in the same inaccurate way. Therefore, Fernbrook made no effort to amend
the schedule o the agreement of purchase and sale description of the HVAC system
iong after it had made the decision not to use the conventional furnace based system in
this development, but to use instead the high velocity combo system.

Mr. Peticca also ciaimed to have gone to the City in advance of the homeowners o
discuss the complaints conceming the HVAC system, implying a proactive approach to
solving the problems. His evidence was rebutted by the evidence of Homeowner #3.

Finally, Mr. Pelicea in his testimony claimed that the system that had been installed was
in fact $400 to $500 more expensiva than the conventional system described in the
agreement of purchase and sale. The purpose of this evidence was to impiy that the
builder had in fact given the owners a benefit over and above what the purchasers ware
entitled to receive under the agreement and the purchase price. When asked whether
this figure was net of the costs saved on installing a conventional forced air system with
the butkheads to accommodate the larger ducts and vents, Mr. Petficca did not answer
the question directly, saying onty that they did not build bulkheads; yet his evidence had
been that using the high wvelocity combo system had avoided the construction of
bulkheads and the walls that accommodated the larger ductwork to permit the open

concept floor plan.

ISSUES

1. Is the Applicants’ claim for warranty denied in the Decision Latier of March 28,
2006 warrantad?

2. If the claim is warranted, should the Applicants be awarded compensation on the
basis of a breach of warranty and proven damages, or should Tarion be ordered
{0 undertake further investigation and perform any work necessary to provide an
HVAC system that fuffills the requirements of all the warranties under the Act?

3. If compeansation should be awarded as requested by the Applicants, how much
should the compensation be?

THE LAW
The sections of the Act relevant to this decision are sef out beiow.
The Ontario New Horme Warranties Plan Act states:

13. (1) Every vendor of & home warran(s (o the owner,

(Al that the home,
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is constructed in accordance with the Ontario Building Code. ..

{c} such other warranties as are prescribed by the regulations.

Exclusions

{2) A warranty under subsection {1) does not apply in raspect of,

(=) defects i materials, design and wark supplied by the owner;

(b} secondary damage caused by defects, such as property damage and personal

njury:

() normal wear and tear,

{d) normal shrinkage of materials caused by ¢rying after construction;

{e) damage caused by dampness or condensation due to failure by the owner to
maintain adequate ventlation;

(f damage resulting from ynproper rainienance;

{o] alterationsg, deletions or additons made by the owner;

14.(3)  Subject to the regulations, an owner of @ home is entitfed to receive payment out
of the guarentee fund for damages resulting from a breach of warranty i,

{a) the perscn became the owner of the home through receiving a transfer of fitle to
it or through the subslantial performance by a builder of a contract 10 construct
the hame on land owned by the persan; and

(b) the person has a cause of action against the vendor or the buiider, as the case
may bs, for damages resudting from the breach of warranty.

146} In assossing the amount for which a person is entitled to receive payment out of
the guarantee fund under this section, the Corporation shall take into
considergtion any kenefit. compensation, indemnity payabie, or the value of work
and materials furnished {c tha person from any source,

14.{7} The Corporation may perform or arangé for the performance of any worlk in fieu
of or in mitigation of damages claimed urder this section.

18.(3} Where a person or owner gives naotice in accordance with subsection (2), the

Tribunal shaii appoint a time 1or and hokd the hearing and may by order direct the
Corporation to take such actton as the Tribunal considers the Corporation ought
to take in accordance with this Act and the reguiationg, and for such purposes
the T:ibunal may substitute its opinion for that of the Corparation,

31

The Tribunal's remedial powers are set out in the Act and include the power to direct a
payment out of the compensatior fund or to order Tarion to perform work or arrange to

perfaorm work.

Part VI of RR.Q 1890, Regulation 892, Section 15(2) provides for the warranties
pursuant to Section 13 (1) (c) as follows:

t-vary vendor of o new home warronts to the owner,

{a)
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{b) that the eiactrical, plumbing and heating deiivery and distribution systems are free
from defects in material and work; ..

{d)  that the home is free from violations of the Ontarlo buiiding Cods reguiations under
which the Building Permit was issued, affecting heaith and safety, nduding but not
limited to fire safety, insulaton, air and vapour barmers, ventilation, heating and

structural adequacy;...

The legislation is consumer protection legislation and is to be given a broad and jiberal
interpretation. Mandos v. Ontario New Home Warranty Program 1995 Canl {1 3158 (ON
C. A)), Markey v. Tarion Warranty Corporation [2606) O. J. No. 2929 (ON S.C.D.C.)

Tarion’s counsel provided three cases to the Tribunat to review, including Cecilio v.
Tarion Warranty Corp. [2007] O J. No. 1692 (ON S.C.D.C.), which will be discussed

iaier in these reasons.

tn Re Boldt [2007] O.L.A T.D. No. 83, the homeowner complained that the wel! that the
builder had provided was contaminated and claimed under the warranty. The builder's
seplic system subcontractor contacted the homeowners, showed them the approved
plan for the sewer system and offered to relocate the septic bed as required by the
approved pian. Tarion had requested that the homeowners permit the builder and his
subcontractors access to complete the necessary work. The experts agreed that the
water from the well at the time of purchase was seriously contaminated and unfit for
human consumption with a variety of causes including thé location of the septic system.
The Tribuna! found as a fact that the well had been constructed in al location contrary o
the Building Code and that it did not comply with the design plans on which the permit
for construction was approved. The homeowners proceeded to bring in water from a
commercial water service and had three new wells drilled before a productive one was
in place. The sewer leaching bed was improperly installed within 30 metres of the well
and not set in the in-ground trenches reguired by the plan. Also a treatment system
called for in the plan was not installed. The Tribunal found that the homeowners knew
these facts and in addifion that the builder and his subcontractors were anxious (o
rectify the defacls at the builder's expense. The homeowners refused access to the
property and on that basis Tarion refused the warranty claim. The Tribunal found that
the warranty had been breached and found that some of the damage claims fell within
the wamanty scheme. It alen held however that the homeowners were disentilied to
further warranty coverage for all claims arising out of the well and saptic system. The
huilder in fact did relocate the sewer system and instalied the water treatment system at

s own expense.

In Re Gorscak [1999] O.C.RA.T.D. No. 22, the Tribuna!l orgered that work he done as
outlined in experts’ reports submitted by Tarion in evidence. The Builder was willing o
do the work at its own expense so the work to rectify the problems would not cost either
the homeowner or Tarion anything. The Tribunal ordered that the work specified in the
experts’ repori, specifically work an exterior brickwork, filed by Tarion and that if the
applicants failed to provide access, the claim would be disallowad in its entirety.
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The Applicants referred the Tribunal to a decision of Vice Chair Weary, August 16, 2007
Re 3468-ONWHP — Claim and Re Pisignani & Costa, LAT March 10, 2005 a decision of

Vice Chair Jepson.

Vice-Chair Weary was daaling with two claims. The refevant one relates to repairs to
the home’s heating and ventilation system. The issue was whether the repairs are
sufficient to meet the Builders warranty obligations and if not, what appropriate remedy
's reasonably justified. In that case the Tribunal was satisfied that there were
deficiencios in the system and an expert provided opinion evidence that the Tribunal
accepted as to the remedy. Taricn had aranged for work to be done, but the problems
had nat been fixed. The Tribunal found that the deficiency was a breach of Section 13
of the Act and a violation of the OBC. The Tribunal held at page 13:

"In this case the evidence demonstrated clearly that venting and duct work had been
compromised such that CFM measurements fell far short of that computed according to
the HRIC methad for design CFids. The Applicant is entitled 10 a warranted ramedy for
this breach of the OBC 1n accordance with Section 13 of the Act.”

There were three aptions presented for resoiution of the problems. The Trbunal
directed Tarion to provide the sum of $24,910 to complete the repair for the third and
most expensive and intrusive option that actually repaired the failure that had caused
the problem. The Tribunal held that the concept of repair included the concept of
replacement both by definition and in accordance with the intent of tha legislation (p.
14}. The Tribunal also heid that repair includes the reasonable expectation that any
damage to property caused by that repair including any unsightly hole i a finished wall
will not be the result and that the Applicant should not be put to additional expense o
properly complete the repair without having been given ¢lear advance notice that such

was har responsibility (p. 15).

In Vice-Chair Jepson's decision an the Pisignani and Costa case, the issue was the
water leakage in a basement stud wall. After much resistance, Tanon had agreed that
the defect was warrantable and the builder was prepared to do the specific repairs that
Tarion finally conceded were appropriate (p. 3). The issues related to what a reasonable
method of repair was. Expart evidence was presented by the parties. Thea argument
was put fo the Tribunal that Tarion has the right to direct reasonable repairs to mitigate
damages pursuant to Section 14{7). The Trbunai heid at p. 18-19:

“While this is true, the Tribunai finds that what is reasonable s specific to the cantext and
specific facis. This includes how long the problem has persisted, what theories there are
as t© the cause of a prohlem, what repair efforts have already been made and other
everts occudrring with the passage of time. Included in these coniext-specific
considerations mus! alsu be the fact that the matier has reached the appeal stage at this
Tribunat, In most caseas, it will not be practical for the tribunal adjourn and remain seized
of a matter in ordor to see if a proposead repair will work. ... All af this means that in most
cases, the Tribunal's order must atteanpt 10 bring final resolution to any warranty issue.
Such an approach alse sccordz with the goat of efficiency and finaiity, both recognized
goals of administrative justice.

Based on the above the Tribunz! fnds that what might have been a reasonabie repair at
an early stage may no longer be reasonable when events have progressed further. This
is particuiarly so where the repay is one that is of a ‘try and sec how it goes’ varnety *
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APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE FACTS

The Tribunal finds that the Applicants have established on the balance of probabilities
that there has been a breach of the warranty under the Act with respect to the HVAC
system and that they have suffered damages as a resuit.

The Tribunai finds that Tarion was wrong to reject the warranty claim, both on the
evidence in this matter of the deficiencies in the system and also on the basis that the
grounds that are arliculated in the Decision Latter are inaccurate. Further, the Decision
Letter did nof refer to the warrantias of the home set out in Section 13 (1) (a) (i) of the
Act and Section 15(2) (b} of the Regulation, but only to the OBC compliance issue
which is referred to in Section 13 (1} (a) (i) of the Act and Section 15(2) (d) of the

Reguiation.

The wording of the legisiation is clear. The warranty rclates not just ta OBC compliance
but also to quality and completion of the work, 1In essence the installation and the
components installed in the HVAC system. The OBC provides minimum standards. The
warranty program is inlended to establish a higher standard than that minimum set out
in the OBC and to protect the corisumer who does not have the specialized knowledge

that the builder and the Building Code officials have.

The Tribunal accepts the expert opinion evidence of Mr, Kokko and Mr. Bowser that the
system is not performing to meet the reguirements of the OBC, is not performing
satisfactorily, was nol designed in accordance with the OBC and that major repairs

including replacement of some parts of the system are required.

Wihnle a considerable amount of time was spent on the ¢companents of the system and
the choice of the hot water tank, the evidence establishes on the balance of probabilities
that instailation of the system in the Applicants’ home, including the duct werk, is not
done in a good and workmanlixe manner and without defects in material and work. The
Tribunal has evidence that point to the duct work or retum air as at least a contributing

factar:

« The Applicants’ year end repair forms and comrespondence identifying duct work

prohlems where duct work was visible, and testimony as to inadequaie heating

and cooling.

Homeowner #1's testimony conceming the shoddy duct installation revealed after

the destruction of the fiood in the home.

« Homeowner #3's tastimony and photagraphs related to duct work instalfatien.

e Mr. Genge’s investigation that found one nozzle in the basement preducing air at
a temperature of 19 deg C.

« Mr. Hubbert's Report identifying in almost every property he inoked at the
requirement for additional ducts or adjustments to returmn air needed to bring the

properties to OBC compliance.
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« Mr. Hubbert's testimony indicating that duct work was a reasonable area to
assess for the cause of the difficulties, if the system was not producing the air
flow required.

» The evidence of failure to abide by manufacturers specifications in the
mstallation of the components of the systemn on the part of Fembrock and the

installer.

The potential for investigation and remedial work in the ducts and retusm air was
recognized in the ovidence of Mr Hubberl, as well as Mr. Genge, Mr. Kokko and Mr.

Bowsar.

The Tribunal is not, however, convinced that Mr. Genge has comactly identified the
problem as lying with the retum air but cannot discount the possibility because the
orrars of the installers may have bean consistent since both Homeowner #1 and #3 had
issues with return air. Sloppy instatlation is by its nature inconsistent. Homeowner #2
could well have a system properly installed, though Mr. Hubbert’s report suggests to the
contrary. installation may, however, be consistently wrong, leading to repstition of the

same problems in home after home.

More important in assessing the proper outcome for this case is the fact that Mr. Genge
latched onfo this solution of the retum air on sesing the issue arise in the walls ot
Homeowner #3. This is an illusiration of the very problem posed by acceding to
Tarion’s request that it be ordered {¢ undertake investigation and remediai work. NMr.
Genge in the townhouse development described by Homeowner #1 created a punch
list. None of his suggestions proved to be the solution. The Tribunal's impression of
Mr. Genge is that his iterative process might well lead {e a latching onto the first defecl
that appears without a principled and structured approach to analyzing the whole
problem. These homeowners deserve better than a repeat of the problemns created by
the order to install the Polaris water heater.

The Tribunal rejects the Applicants’ claim that the high velocity combo system as
designed by the manufacturer is somehow deficient, as if accepts the evidence that the
high velocity combo system can be installed in a good and workmanlike manner with
properly operating components. However, the Tribunal notes the caution in the
manufacturers manual as to the proper use of this system, ie. that it is not a direct
reptacement to conventionat forced gir systems but an engineered comfort system
espeacially desighed to specific requirements and, as well, the Applicants’ difficulties in
finding traned persons to maintain i,

Mr. Bowser recognizes the value of a process of analysis of the various components to
separate what is interrelated but functioning and what is not functioning, but he
recommends that the eniire systern be torn out.  His avidence was that his
recommendation is based on the likelihood that his clients will end up with a system that
is satisfactory for themn and OBC comgliant.

Tarion argues that there was ample time for the Applicants to underiake the cost of a
snake with a camera at the end to be sent through the duct system to see the
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daficiencies and to undertake furither and other investigation. Tarion relies on the onus
on the Applicants {o establish on the baiance of probabitities that the wamranty has beenr
breached, that the Applicanis have suffered damages anr the quantum of those
damages, to justify it not undertaking such an investigation itself. )

Based on the qualifications and expertise of Mr. Kokko, the Tribunal finds on the
balance of probabilities that this heating system is not compiiant with the OBC and is
not free of defects in material and work, contrary ta the warranty provided under Section
15 of the Regulation and is likely not installed in a good and workmanlike manner.
While the Tribunal cannot specify, based on the evidence. that the deficiencies are only
thase identified by Mr. Kokko, the Applicants have provided sufficient evidence to call
on Tarion to provide evidence that the system is without those defects. Insiead,
Tarion’s expert has reported that the system is performing satisfactorily despite
detecting deficiencies; he has nonetheless oullined a process to identify what the

precise defects are.

Tarion has put forward the poskion that ¢n the basis of the decision of the Divisional
Court in Cecifio v. Tarion Warranty Corp. [2007] ©.J. No. 1692 (ON S.C.D.C,) the
Tribunal shoufd exercise its powers to order further testing in a process to determine
what companents of the HVAC system have been installed in a good and workmanlike
manneyr, what components are functioning in accordance with the manufacturer's
specifications, and what components need to be replaced or repaired either by virtue of
their being inappropriate by size or power or by virtue of them being poorly installed
and/or not functioning. This power was utilized in the Gorscak case referred io above.

The Tribunal rejects this request by Tarion and adopts the reasorning of Vice Chair
Japson. Given the particular facts of this case, it is not appropriate 1o order Tarion ¢
carry out further investigations and undertake repairs. Such a process for study and
testing and unidentified future work does not provide any ¢closure to the Applicants who
must have some assurance that the process will result in a rectification of their current

situation.

It is clear that the process of investigation and pursuit of the warranty claim have been
extensive, drawn out, and frustrating for the Applicants. It has also been expensive in
that two experts have been retained and the Tribunai has no jurisdiction to award them
recovery of those costs. The builder has not come forward with a response based on
engineering expertise and evidence. These homeowners have become skeptical of
engineers retained by others and the exercise of power to force them ta have repairs
that are ultimately useless or that cause further prablems.

The Tribunat finds that the Applicants have not disentitied themselves to the warranty
protection, as the homeowners dic in Re Boldt referred to in the Law section of this
decision. In the Boldt case the problem for the homeowners was that the builder was
not only aware but anxious to do the remedial work but they denied access. The builder
cannot now say that he is ready and willing fo rectify the problem when he left the
rectification to the City and now gives conflicting evidernce about it. The work done
under Mr. Hubbert's direction has not, an the basis of the investigations done by the
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experts retained by the Applicants, resulted in an HVAC sysiem that complies with the
OBC or that is done in a good and warkmanlike manner, Similarly the Gorscak case is
distinguishabile in that the builder has not in this case indicated a willingness to make
repairs — instead the builder consistently rejects any argument that there is something
wrong with the system and, despite posturing about doing monitoring and whatever is
reguired by the City, the builder's fundamental approach is to reject the need to build
anything to any further standard than the OBC.

COST CF REPAIR

The Applicants brought forward evidence of the cost of repair including the cost of total
replacement of the system The Tribunal's powers under the warranty are very limited
and do not inciude the full panoply of damages that can be awarded by the Court.
While there is some concern that the solution put Torward by the engineers may need to
be expanded on the completion of investigation, there is agreement that the air handler
is inadequate for the task at hand, identified both in the Hubbert Report and in Mr.
Kokko's report.  [n addition, as noted above, there is evidence, including that of Mr.
Genge for at least one duct, that the duct work and perhaps the return air needs ta be
reviewed and assessed. The engineers agree that undertaking invastigation of the
rafmaining ducl work and retum air supply for instaliation defects and probably adding
additional duct capacity is involved in remedying the problems,

Mr. Bowser estimated the costs of fotal demolition of walls to expose duct work,
replacement of the system, and repait work to the home resuiting from that demalition
and replacement at $90,000, based on estimates of work that were provided by a
contractor, Excel. The Tribunal dees not accept Mr. Bowser's solution of replacement
of the system at a cost of $90,000 as a necessary and inevitable outcome, but there will
certainly be significant costs in remedying the defects in the HVAC system.

Homeowner #3, whose repairs were provided under extraordinary conditions,
acknowledged paying $15,900 towards the cost of the material and components and
work done in her hame though she indicated she was told that the total cost in fact was
around $120,000. No evidence was called to rebut Mr. Boswer's figures if a total
replacement of the system is callec for, Mr. Kokko estimated the cost of reparrs that he
outlined in his report at $8,000, but in 2006 deliars and without an estimate from a
contractor. Mr. Genge's estimates in his repart totaled less than $10,000 and did not
inciude additional costs for investigation outside the furnace room or any repairs to duct
work, even such as he identified, and he did not foreclose other repairs in his erative
pracess. Given the deficiencies in Mr. Genge's expertisc in this field, the Tribunal finds
that his estimates must be regarded as a minimum amount.

The evidence provided on the cost of repairs to rectify the deficiency is not “perfect’,
especially as there is no agreement that if any one step or a specific serias of steps is
taken, the heating system will be OBC ecmpliant and operating properly. This case has
been outstanding for a very long time and the disclosire of the Applicants’ estimates
was made in enough time that Tarion and the Added Party could have brought forward
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contrary evidence if they had been so minded. It is well established that in assessing
damages, an adjudicator must draw on the evidence before her in amiving at the
estimated cost of future work and do the best she can, given the limitations.

Based on all the evidence, the Tribunal finds that an award of $36,000 is an appropriate
amount to permit the necessary investigation, design, demolition, repair, and instaliation
for a properly functioning OBC compliant system built in accordance with the warranties
under the Act and for any necessary fees and permits for that work. Homeowner #1
teslified that this amount represents a reasonable estimate of the cost of repair and/or
replacement of the components of the system and repair of damage to walls necessary
to repair errors in installation of duct work and raturn air. This amount is alsa sufficient

to provide for the: following:

+ The work identified by Mr. Kokko to address the air handler and increase in the
duct work which he estimated would cost $8.G00 or Mr. Genge's estimate for
work he described of $8,000 in Exhibit 28.

» The investigative work such as the snake with 2 camera through the duct work or
thermographic testing and interpretation to isolate installation problems in the
duct work, which was estimated at various figures but totaling less than $5,000.

s The cost of fees for the design and apphications for permits for any remedial work
{estimated $5.000 allowance based on Excel's estimate of $6,000 for a total
replacement system).

* The cost of commissioning and balancing the repaired system $7,500 basead on
the Excel estimate.

s An allowarice for removal and demolition of some portion of the system, $5,000
(included in the estimates of Excel in the amount of $20,00C as a total cost for
tota! removal).

o $5,000 for painting and redecorating where required: and,

e an allowance for contingencies because of the limited information and lack of

consensus on the totality of the work to be done.

The Tribunal finds that it has sufficient evidence to support a reasonable estimate of the
cost of remedying the defects in the HVAC systemn and to leave it to the homeowner to
rectify the damages through their own consultants, to their own satisfaction and in their
own time. They are free to repair the high velocity combo system, to seek other advice
and canvas other solutions if they wish, or {0 use the funds from the warranty fo

contribute to the cost of a total replacement.

The Tribunal answers the three issues stated earlier in this decision as follows:

[ssue 1: Is the Applicants’ claim for warranty denied in the Decision Letter of March
28, 2006 warranted?

Answer: The Claim is warranigd.

Issue 2: If the claim is warranted, should the Applicants be awarded compensation
on the basis of 2 breach of warranty and proven damages or should Tanon be
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ordered to undertake further investigation and perfonm any work necessary lo
provide an HVAC system that fulfills the requirements of all the warranties under the

Act?
Answer: The Applicants should be awarded compensation.

lssue 3: if compensation should be awarded as requested by the Applicants, how
much should the compensation be?

Answer: The compensation should be $36,000.

ORDER

By virtue of the power of the Tribunal under Section 16 of the Ontaric New Home
Warranty Plan Act, the appeal is allowed. The Tribunal substitutes its opinion for that of
Tarion and directs that the Applicants’ claim is warranted and that Tarion pay to the

Applicants the sum of $36,000.
LICENCE APPEAL TRIBUNAL

Lynda Tanaka, Chair

RELEASED. May 8, 2008

File Name: 3512 onhwpa.claim.doc

The hearing was recorded. Transcripts can be made available at your
expense. The period to appeal a decision to the Superior Court of Justice or
Divisionat Court is 30 calendar days from the date of release of the decision.
Plgase arrange to pick up your Exhibits within 30 days after that period has
passed. The Tribunal requires seven days notice prier to releasing Exhibits.

This decision, which is being released to the parties in this proceeding, wili also
be posted on the Licence Appeal Tribunal's website www lat.gov.gn.ca in
approximately three weeks time. The decision will also be available on

Quicklaw at a later date.






